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Leveraging the collective strengths of the Group, Daikyo strives to create
a “harmonious living environment” through housing products and services
that satisfy the needs of all age groups and lifestyles.
— Group Management Philosophy
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Leasing management
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ORIX Facilities
Corporation
Total building management
Construction
Real estate brokerage
● Real estate management
● Condominium management

Asset Wave
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●

Real estate brokerage, consulting
Real estate investment
Due diligence support

J・COMS
Incorporated
Daikyo L-Design
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Condominium management
Building, facilities management
Contract work
● Insurance agency operations
●
●
●

●
●
●

Daikyo Life
Incorporated
Building maintenance service
● Janitorial service
●

Remodeling
Design alterations
Furniture, interior sales

Fuso Engineering
Incorporated
●

Parking garage equipment
business

●

Plant infrastructure
business

Best known for the prominent Lions Mansion brand name, the Daikyo Group is engaged in a comprehensive range of
housing and housing-related business activities, including the development and sale of new condominiums, real estate
management, brokerage and leasing, large-scale repair and renovation work, and tenant services. With the industry’s top
share* in terms of the number of new condominiums offered, in total, the Group has sold housing to the residents of
approximately 350,000 condominium units. With regard to real estate management, ORIX Facilities Corporation became a
consolidated company in March 2009, as did J.COMS Incorporated in April of the same year, boosting the number of
Group-managed condominiums to over 380,000.
We at the Daikyo Group will work in unison to satisfy the needs of all age groups and lifestyles, offer ever-higher-quality
housing products and services, and contribute to the well-being of even greater numbers of customers, as well as to
society as a whole.
*Source: Survey by Real Estate Economic Institute Co., Ltd.

DISCLAIMER

CONTENTS
TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS

1

FUTURE MANAGEMENT POLICY

4

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

6

DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

10

FINANCIAL SECTION

11

CORPORATE DATA

38

INVESTOR INFORMATION

39

This annual report includes translations of documents originally filed under the
Securities and Exchange Law of Japan. This report was prepared in English
solely for the convenience of readers outside Japan and should not be considered as a disclosure statement. The original Japanese documents shall
take precedence in the event of any discrepancies arising from the translations or interpretations contained in this report.
Estimates for Daikyo Incorporated’s future operating results contained
in this annual report are forward-looking statements and are based on information currently available to the Company and are subject to risks and uncertainties. Consequently, these projections should not be relied upon as the
sole basis for evaluating Daikyo Incorporated. Actual results may differ substantially from the projections depending on a number of factors.

TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS

Representative Executive Officer,
President and Group Chief Executive Officer
Masaaki Tashiro

Review of Fiscal 2009

with the same period of the previous fiscal year. As a result,

The Japanese economy in the fiscal year under review

consolidated net sales in the fiscal year under review

witnessed global turmoil in the financial markets, a

declined 10.8% to ¥351.6 billion.

significant decline in exports and production driven by the

From the standpoint of profitability, in addition to a

abrupt deterioration of overseas economies and the

decline in revenues from condominium sales and a lower

unabated strengthening of the yen. As a result, corporate

gross profit margin, the downturn in the real estate market

profits continue to contract and business sentiment is

was more intense than had been expected, and this decline

worsening appreciably. Waning individual consumption

was reflected in the valuation of inventories. Based on

amidst an increasingly severe employment and income

accounting standards for inventory valuation, the Company

environment, together with a decline in residential

posted an inventory write-down of ¥43.4 billion. This resulted

investments, creates the strong possibility that economic

in an operating loss of ¥44.0 billion from the previous fiscal

trends will remain gloomy for the foreseeable future.

year’s operating income of ¥31.1 billion.

The condominium market, buffeted by the sudden

Consolidated net loss totaled ¥56.4 billion, a decline

economic decline, is confronted by an unparalleled business

from the net income of ¥16.2 billion in the previous fiscal

environment. With a further diminished inclination to

year. This drop was due to such factors as ¥2.2 billion owing

consume and stagnating real income, sales trends add to

to a gain on sales of property and equipment posted as

the severity, and product inventories remain at persistently

extraordinary income, ¥2.5 billion associated with special

high levels.

termination benefits posted as an extraordinary loss, and,

Under these difficult business conditions, net sales in
the Daikyo Group’s mainstay Real Estate Sales segment

the reversal of deferred tax assets following careful assessment of the possibility of their realizability.

amounted to ¥267.8 billion, a decline of 14.2% compared
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
For the years ended March 31, 2005–2009

Thousands of
U.S. dollars

Millions of yen

2005

2006

2007

2008

2009

2009

For the Year:
Net sales

¥ 450,652

Operating income (loss)

¥ 434,303

¥ 376,666

¥ 394,102

¥ 351,624

$ 3,579,597

(20,480)

30,238

34,995

31,118

(44,076)

(448,699)

Income (loss) before income taxes and minority interest

(101,247)

27,156

27,967

27,543

(52,065)

(530,032)

Net income (loss)

(101,617)

31,900

24,683

16,256

(56,415)

(574,308)

Total assets

¥ 430,073

¥ 400,886

¥ 429,363

¥ 464,734

¥ 367,522

$ 3,741,439

Net assets*

53,723

91,081

98,854

113,201

62,820

639,526

At Year-End:

*Net assets prior to the fiscal year ended March 31, 2007 were recorded under “total shareholders’ equity.”
Business Results by Segment

and parking garage businesses.

By segment, due to the abrupt downturn in the business

In the Other segment, which primarily involves the

environment, the revenues in the mainstay Real Estate

leasing business, net sales declined 10.7% to ¥11.2 billion

Sales segment declined in tandem with 1,014 less units

from the previous fiscal year, while operating income

sold from the same period of the previous fiscal year,

improved by 25.0% to ¥2.1 billion.

amounting to 5,823 units of new condominiums. In addition
to the decline in operating income from condominium sales

Financial Position

and lower gross profit margin, a write-down of ¥43.4 billion

Total assets as of March 31, 2009 were ¥367.5 billion, a

based on accounting standards for inventory valuations

decrease of ¥97.2 billion compared to the end of the

resulted in an operating loss of ¥50.4 billion, compared to

previous fiscal year. This was the result of increased cash

operating income of ¥27.8 billion in the previous fiscal year.

and deposits of ¥14.4 billion, while on the other hand, other

By making concerted efforts to reduce inventories of

factors included inventories decreased by ¥108.6 billion

completed condominiums, the Company reduced the

owing to the posting of a valuation loss.

amount of completed new condominiums not contracted to
379 units, from 818 units in the previous fiscal year.
In Real Estate Management, in addition to a robust
increase in the number of condominium units under

fiscal year-end to ¥304.7 billion. This was a result of
interest-bearing debt declining by ¥46.1 billion, and other
factors.

management, the results of efforts to strengthen earnings

Net assets were ¥62.8 billion, a decline of ¥50.3 billion

power boosted net sales by 6.1% from the previous fiscal

compared with the end of the previous fiscal year. This was

year to ¥31.9 billion and operating income by 41.6%, to

attributable to increases of ¥5.0 billion in capital in line with

¥3.5 billion.

the issue of preferred stock and ¥14.4 billion in capital

Impacted by the same deteriorating business conditions

surplus, respectively, as well as decreases in retained

as faced by Real Estate Sales, the Real Estate Brokerage

earnings amounting to ¥56.4 billion with the posting a net

segment saw net sales decline by 7.4% from the previous

loss, ¥10.4 billion for acquisition and retirement of treasury

fiscal year to ¥8.5 billion, along with an operating loss of

stock (preferred stock), and ¥2.1 billion on account of

¥0.1 billion, the second consecutive ¥0.1 billion year on

dividends payments, respectively.

year loss.

The shareholder’s equity ratio declined 7.1 points from

Contract Work sales increased 0.9% to ¥35.1 billion and

the end of the previous fiscal year to 17.1%, and net assets

operating income climbed 36.9% to ¥2.7 billion as a

per share stood at ¥79.81, representing a decline of ¥189.06

consequence of efforts to enhance earnings power and

compared with the end of the previous fiscal year.

steady performance in the large-scale condominium repair
2

Total liabilities decreased ¥46.8 billion from the previous
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Cash Flows

throughout the entire Group with a view to a leaner

Cash and cash equivalents (“cash”) at the end of the fiscal

business tailored to market scale.

year under review were ¥67.5 billion, an increase of ¥14.4
billion compared to the end of the previous fiscal year.

In Real Estate Management, the pillar of the stock
business, ORIX Facilities Corporation became a wholly

Net cash provided by operating activities amounted to

owned subsidiary through a stock exchange scheme. The

¥48.9 billion, a turnaround from the previous year, which

Group is moving forward on its efforts to boost the scale of

had used ¥42.1 billion. The change was attributable, on the

the stock business and enhance its earnings power. In

one hand, to a decline in cash as a result of the posting of a

addition, the Group reduced expenses by reviewing non-

net loss before income taxes and minority interests and a

performing offices in the Real Estate Brokerage business

reduction in notes and accounts payable due to the

and streamlined its business foundation.

settlement of construction expenses, and, on the other
hand, to increased cash on the back of reduced inventories.

Furthermore, to recover shareholders’ equity, fortify our
financial foundation and construct a stable business base,

Net cash provided by investing activities, which in the

we issued to ORIX Corporation ¥10.0 billion worth of Class

previous fiscal year amounted to ¥0.8 billion, increased to

7 preferred stock. In addition, in line with ORIX Facilities

¥14.0 billion. Major components were proceeds from the

becoming a wholly owned subsidiary, the Company issued

sale of property and equipment and the acquisition of

approximately ¥9.4 billion in Class 8 preferred stock with the

shares in subsidiaries.

aim of appropriating the compensation needed for the share

Net cash used in financing amounted to ¥48.5 billion

exchange.

from the ¥37.2 billion provided in the previous fiscal year.
Major components were an increase in cash from the issue

Outlook for Fiscal 2010

of shares, along with declines in cash as a result of loan

With regard to the outlook for fiscal 2010, these

repayment and the acquisition of treasury stock.

initiatives are a first step, and together with increasing the
earnings power of each business segment, we foresee net

Business Strategy for Future Growth

sales contracting by 6.1% to ¥330.0 billion, an operating

Because of the net loss posted as a result of the significant

income increase amounting to ¥7.6 billion, from the loss of

downturn in business conditions for the Real Estate Sales

¥44.0 billion in the previous fiscal year and net income to

segment, the Company has, with regret, suspended

¥3.6 billion from the ¥56.4 billion loss in fiscal 2009.

period-end dividend payments. Moreover, because the
Company expects the severe business environment to

I would like to ask for the continued support and
understanding of every shareholder.

continue, and to give priority to enhancing internal reserves,
ordinary dividend are scheduled for cancellation in fiscal

June 2009

2010 as well.
As a flexible business model that meets the needs of a
changing market environment, the Daikyo Group will renew
its “flow and stock double-pillar style of management” to
rebuild a stable foundation for profitability in order to
achieve its aim of long-term and stable growth.
Already in the period under review, as one aspect of its
efforts to raise earnings power and fortify the condominium
business in the Tokyo metropolitan area in the core flow
business of Condominium Development and Sales, the
Company has merged with Fuso Lexel Incorporated.
Furthermore, advances have been achieved to reduce fixed
costs, including the rationalization of human resources
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FUTURE MANAGEMENT POLICY

The Daikyo Group’s Approach to Target Businesses
The Daikyo Group has pressed ahead with business operations in pursuit of expansion
and growth of profits and business scale from fiscal year 2008. However, the
environment surrounding the real estate market took a sharp downturn at a tempo far
exceeding expectations. This spurred a succession of factors including depressed
condominium sales prices and soaring building costs that led to the posting of
significant losses.
The challenging business conditions that currently exist in the real estate market are
expected to continue into the foreseeable future. With regard to the scale of
Condominium Development and Sales—a mainstay of the flow business—the Daikyo
Group forecasts a phased contraction in tandem with market scale. The Group is thus
raising its capacity to earn profits through meaningful rationalization such as continued
reductions to fixed costs and advertising expenses, as well as increased productivity.
In another area, with regard to the stock business—in which Real Estate
Management plays a central role—we will further increase the proportion of profits by
positioning as the main driver the industry giant DAIKYO ASTAGE Incorporated. As one
element of these endeavors to strengthen earnings and establish a stable foundation of
profitability, we made wholly owned subsidiaries of the real estate management
companies ORIX Facilities Corporation and J.COMS Incorporated on March 25, 2009
and April 30, 2009, respectively.

4
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Rebuilding the Flow Business
Condominium Development and Sales
As a consequence of the synergistic effects demonstrated

conjunction with this, we are striving to raise profitability

by the Fuso Lexel Incorporated merger accomplished on

through significant rationalization, including the reduction

March 1, 2009, we have realized the integration of multi-

of fixed costs and the curbing of advertising expenses, as

ple operations in line with the rationalization and stream-

well as by raising productivity. At the same time, as a non-

lining of operational structure and a stronger framework

asset business that utilizes the strengths of the Daikyo

for business operations in the Tokyo metropolitan area.

Group, we are intensifying efforts to achieve a business

In addition, we are reviewing area portfolios for the

able to weather the changing market environment in ways

Condominium Development and Sales segment to further

that include commissions for sales of condominium units

strengthen our operations in the three principal markets,

from other companies and jointly operated units.

which are the Tokyo, Chubu and Kinki regions. In

Expanding the Stock Business
Real Estate Management Business
In addition to the management commissions from

Furthermore, the alliance that includes the two

associations of condominiums offered by the Daikyo

subsidiaries of ORIX Facilities Corporation and J.COMS

Group, we are applying further efforts to attract

Incorporated, as well as DAIKYO ASTAGE, will result in

commissions from associations of condominiums offered

expanded sales capabilities, increased orders for large-

by other companies, expand business scale through

scale repair and maintenance work through mutual

M&A activities and further improve service levels.

exploitation of expertise, and simultaneously, will realize

By establishing ORIX Facilities Corporation and
.
J COMS Incorporated as wholly owned subsidiaries

lower costs through a synergistic effect manifested to
further improve earnings power.

through M&A activities, not only are there an increased

We are working to reinforce with Group resources

number of managed condominiums, but a broad array of

businesses supplemental to Real Estate Management—

new operations are developed, adding to a new business

remodeling, the provision of interior furnishings, and

foundation with office building and commercial facility

home security and concierge services in condominiums—

building management as well as customer asset and

as businesses that support condominium tenants.

tenant services management and operation.

Real Estate Brokerage Business
We conducted a rebuilding of our business foundation by

employees and enhancing efficiency in the Real Estate

consolidating or eliminating offices that were non-

Brokerage segment, an area in the stock business that is

performing in the fiscal year under review. Since the

positioned for growth. In so doing, we are stepping up

business shows promise in the medium- to long-term,

and expanding brokerage services to individuals for used

the actions will be taken to improve efficiency, including

condominiums, brokerage services to corporate

strengthening our corporate structure by fostering

customers, and the leasing business.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Basic Corporate Governance Concepts

the executive officer in charge of the Group Audit

In an effort to further strengthen its corporate governance

Department, and accounting audit reports presented by the

system, the Daikyo Group shifted to a “Company with

independent accounting auditor. The Audit Committee

Committees” system in June 2005, after approval was

maintains a structure of cooperation that enables it to direct

received at the Ordinary General Meeting of Shareholders

audits as required. The Audit Committee met on six

held that same month. Under this system, supervisory

occasions during the fiscal period under review. The

functions are separated from executive functions in order to

director attendance rate at these meetings was 91.3%.

reinforce the system of checks and balances and to
accelerate the decision-making process. In addition, Daikyo

Compensation Committee

established a compliance framework to improve risk

The Compensation Committee, which is comprised of six

management. In this manner, Daikyo continuously

directors (including the four appointed from outside the

endeavors to optimize corporate governance in its efforts to

Group) as of June 24, 2009, has rights to set policy with

further improve soundness, transparency and efficiency in

regard to director and executive remuneration and to

corporate management.

determine the individual remuneration of each director and
executive. The Compensation Committee met on six

Corporate Governance Structure

occasions during the fiscal period under review. The director

Board of Directors

attendance rate at these meetings was 94.4%.

Daikyo’s Board of Directors, which is comprised of 10
directors (four of whom were appointed from outside the

Group Management Meetings

Group) as of June 24, 2009, makes decisions on important

Matters of importance to the running of the Group’s

management issues and oversees the activities of its

business affairs are systematically deliberated and

executive officers. The Board of Directors met on twelve

decided upon at Group Management Meetings attended

occasions during the fiscal period under review. The

by executive and other officers and held in principle once

director attendance rate at these meetings was 95.3%.

a month.
In addition, Business Review Meetings attended by

Nominating Committee

executive and other officers are held in principle once a

The Nominating Committee, which is comprised of six

week to deliberate and determine important proposals

directors (including the four appointed from outside the

relating to the Group’s condominium development and

Group) as of June 24, 2009, has the authority to decide on

sales business.

the director candidates who will be submitted as nominees

A review of risk management system responses related

at the Ordinary General Meeting of Shareholders and the

to business and administration is carried out at the Group

right to deliberate the selection of important executives, such

Management Meeting and the Business Review Meeting,

as Executive Officers, the Representative Executive Officer,

where the status of each risk is analyzed and a complete

and CEO. The Nominating Committee met on six occasions

picture of the current risk management status is formed.

during the fiscal period under review. The director
attendance rate at these meetings was 94.4%.

Compliance Systems
Daikyo established the Compliance Office in June 2002 and

6

Audit Committee

created the Group Compliance Consultation System in the

As of June 24, 2009, the Audit Committee is comprised of

following November for the benefit of all Group employees

the four outside directors who evaluate the activities of

to forestall illegal activity. In addition, with the aim of

executive officers and the Company’s internal control

ensuring compliance with the Private Information Protection

systems. This evaluation is based on reports of the

Law, the Compliance Department (reorganized as the Group

business and affairs of the Company presented by the

Internal Control Promotion Department in April 2008) was

Representative Executive Officer, results of internal audits

established in February 2005 to reinforce compliance status

and reports relating to overall internal control presented by

by enhancing promotion and checking functions.
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Risk Management Systems

suggestions and guidance on areas of improvement to

Daikyo evaluates and manages risk across a variety of

departments undergoing audit, the Audit Committee works to

categories, including real estate market risk, business risk

improve the effectiveness of internal controls.

and disaster risk. The Group Internal Controls Promotion
Department—it coordinates risk management methods

Accounting Audit

based on monitoring activities, as well as feedback and

In accordance with the Corporate Law and Japanese

reports from each department—regularly reports on

Securities and Exchange Law, Daikyo has concluded an

information necessary to risk management to the

auditing contract with KPMG AZSA & Co. (a member firm of

Representative Executive Officer and President, as well as

the KPMG network) for the auditing of the Company’s

to the Audit Committee, with proposals to improve the

accounts. In addition to regular audits, Daikyo strives to hold

Group’s risk management systems.

proper discussions, ensure confirmation with KPMG AZSA
and to perform fair accounting procedures with regard to

Internal Audit System

accounting issues. There are no conflicts of interest

The Group Audit Department is responsible for internal audits.

between Daikyo and the independent auditing company or

The department puts business audit plans into effect and

its employees.

reports on the results of the audits to the Audit Committee. In

The names of the Certified Public Accountants (CPAs)

addition, the Audit Committee maintains a framework of

engaged in the audits of financial statements for the fiscal

cooperation that enables it to direct the Audit Committee

year under review and the composition of the team of

Secretariat or the Group Audit Department to conduct audits

assistants to the audits of financial statements were as

and other activities as necessary. As well as giving

follows:

Corporate Governance Flow Chart
Ordinary General Meeting of Shareholders

SUPERVISORY FUNCTION
Selection / dismissal
of Directors

Board of Directors
Selection / removal of
committee members

Reporting

Audit Committee
(Evaluates activities of
Executive Officers)

Collective
efforts

Nominating Committee
(Nominates Directors)

Independent Auditor

Compensation Committee
(Determines compensation
for Directors)

Reporting

Audit Committee Secretariat

Collective efforts

Accounting
audit report

Selection / dismissal of Executive Officers
Oversight

Executive Officers

Group Management Meeting

Representative

Business Review Meeting

Group Internal
Control Promotion Dept.

Group Subsidiaries

Group General Affairs Dept.

Executive officer
and President
(Group CEO)

Reporting
occurrences of risk

Group Audit Department

Monitoring

Group Accounting Dept.

Reporting

Group Compliance
Consultation System

Executive Officers
Condominium Development
and Sales Div.
Business checks-andbalances system
Business support
Business promotion

EXECUTIVE FUNCTION
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(Name of CPAs engaged in the audits of financial

Requirements for Extraordinary Resolutions at

statements)

General

Designated and Engagement Partners: Yutaka Miya,

Shareholders’ Meetings

Atsunori Sadahiro

Extraordinary resolutions at General Shareholders’

(Composition of the team of assistants to the audit of the

Meetings, as provided for under Article 309, Paragraph 2 of

financial statements)

the Japanese Corporate Law, and at Class Shareholders’

CPAs: 16; junior accountants: 29; others: 8

Meetings, as provided for under Article 324, Paragraph 2,

Shareholders’

Meetings

and

Class

may be approved by two-thirds or more of the voting rights
Relationships between Outside Directors and the

of the shareholders in attendance at the meetings, at which

Company

shareholders having one-third or more of the total of the

The outside directors have no personal relationship with the

voting rights of all shareholders entitled to exercise their

directors of Daikyo.

voting rights must be in attendance. This serves to ensure

Outside director Hiroaki Nishina holds the concurrent

the smooth running of these meetings by alleviating the

positions of Director and Deputy President of the ORIX

need for a quorum to be present for an extraordinary

Corporation. Daikyo and ORIX Corporation have concluded a

resolution to be taken.

capital alliance, with ORIX Corporation being a major
shareholder of Daikyo. In addition, outside director Teruo

Number of Directors

Ozaki is also an ORIX Corporation outside director.

The Company’s Articles of Incorporation stipulate that the

No conflicts of interest exist between Daikyo and the

number of Directors of the Company shall be three or more.

other outside directors.
In accordance with the provisions of Article 427,

Director and Executive Exemptions from Liability

Paragraph 1 of the Japanese Corporate Law, Daikyo has

To enable directors and executives to demonstrate that

entered into agreements with its outside directors to limit

they are fulfilling sufficiently their duties in the roles

their liability due to negligence pursuant to Article 423,

expected of them and as stipulated under Daikyo’s Articles

Paragraph 1 of the Japanese Corporate Law, which limits

of Incorporation, the Company may, in accordance with

liability provided that the amount of the liability under the

Article 426, Paragraph 1 of the Japanese Corporate Law and

said agreement is the limited amount stipulated by law.

by resolution of the Board of Directors, exempt directors
(including former directors) and executives (including former

Resolution Requirement for Election of Directors

executives) from liability set forth in Article 423, Paragraph 1

Daikyo’s Articles of Incorporation stipulate that resolutions

of the law to the extent permitted in accordance with lows

for the election of Directors shall be adopted by a majority

and regulations.

vote of the shareholders present who hold one-third or
more of the total of the voting rights of shareholders

Shares with Restricted Voting Rights

entitled to exercise voting rights.

To as much as possible inhibit the dilutive effect of
increasing common stock, while at the same time

Decision-Making Body for Dividend Payments

strengthening its capital base, the Company issued Class 1,

To enable Daikyo to make flexible dividend payments, and

Class 2, Class 4, Class 7 and Class 8 preferred stock, all of

as stipulated under Daikyo’s Articles of Incorporation, the

which contrast with common stock in that they possess no

Company may—unless otherwise provided for by laws and

voting rights. Restrictions on the execution of voting rights

regulations—make decisions concerning dividend payments

in classified stock are defined in Article 108, Paragraph 1, 3

and any other matters set forth in Article 459, Paragraph 1

of the Japanese Corporate Law.

of the Japanese Corporate Law by Board of Directors’
resolution and not by shareholders’ meeting resolution.
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However, shareholder of Class 1 preferred stock
(“Preferred Shareholder”) may exercise voting rights from a

General Meeting of Shareholder where no report item or

preferred dividends was dismissed, until a Board of

proposal with regard to Preferred Shareholder receiving

Directors’ meeting or General Meeting of Shareholder

year-end preferred dividends is submitted, or from the time

resolves that Preferred Shareholder shall receive year-end

when this meeting of shareholders is concluded after a

preferred dividends.

proposal concerning Preferred Shareholder receiving
Total Amount of Compensation for Directors and Executive Officers
The compensations paid to directors and executive officers in the fiscal year under review are summarized as follows:
(Millions of yen)

Classification

Number
of
persons

Share
price-connected
compensation

Fixed
compensation

Results-connected
compensation

Directors (Internal)

9

17

-

0

17

Directors (Outside)

5

21

-

1

23

Executive Officers

12

212

-

17

229

Total

26

250

-

19

270

Total
amount

Notes:
1. Effective from the fiscal year under review, compensation for the six executive officers concurrently serving as directors
is segmented and stated in compensation for Directors (Internal) and Executive Officers, respectively. The number of
executive officers concurrently serving as directors is stated as both Directors (Internal) and Executive Officers.
2. The above share price-connected compensation includes ¥1 million in share subscription rights issued for stock options
together with ¥2 million for point-based share price-connected retirement benefits within the fiscal year under review.
Point-based share price-connected retirement benefits are calculated by multiplying the points granted within the fiscal
year under review by the average closing price of Daikyo’s common stock, traded in a regular manner on the Tokyo
Stock Exchange, during the first 30 trading days starting from the 45th trading day preceding the date of retirement,
which is assumed to be March 31, 2009.
3. The total amount of retirement benefits at the end of the fiscal year under review amounted to ¥104 million, down ¥2
million compared to the end of the previous fiscal year.
4. The above “Number of persons” does not include unpaid executive officers.
5. The above amounts do not include the amount of salaries as employees for those executive officers concurrently serving
as employees.
Total Amount of Compensation for Auditors
The compensations paid to auditors in the fiscal year under review are summarized as follows:
(Millions of yen)

Compensation for audit certification services

Compensation for other services27

Daikyo (non-consolidated)

111

-

Consolidated subsidiaries

47

-

Total

159

-

Classification

Policy for Determining Auditor Compensation
Daikyo has no established policy for determining auditor compensation for certified public accountant auditors. However, in
view of the scale of Daikyo’s business, determination is made by taking overall consideration of the reasonable number of
days auditors will need to work, and other factors.
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DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS
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MEMBERS
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Masaaki Tashiro
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Masaaki Tashiro
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* Outside Director
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CHAIRMAN

Teruo Ozaki*
MEMBERS

Takayasu Okushima*
Hiroaki Nishina*
Akira Miyahara*

Kiyoshi Kurihara
Kozo Endo
CORPORATE EXECUTIVE VICE PRESIDENT

Kazuhiko Kaise
CORPORATE EXECUTIVE VICE PRESIDENT

Akira Yamaguchi
Tukasa Kimura
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Joichiro Tsuchida
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Toshiaki Igarashi
EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Eiji Ochiai
EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Yoshiki Kikuchi
EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Kenji Fukaya
EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Yuji Maekawa
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CONSOLIDATED TEN-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
For the years ended March 31, 2000–2009

2000

2001

2002

2003

¥ 389,569

¥ 392,617

¥ 342,483

¥ 336,681

Cost of sales

324,649

325,401

282,830

282,270

Gross profit

64,920

67,216

59,653

54,411

Selling, general and administrative expenses

39,454

41,189

39,197

35,443

Operating income (loss)

25,466

26,027

20,456

18,968

Income (loss) before income taxes and minority interest

(3,604)

3,486

(380,899)

386,404

Income taxes

(3,851)

(3,015)

7,297

(128)

104

6,234

(386,799)

386,497

33.64

¥(2,087.37)

¥ 2,091.96

185,314

185,314

185,304

184,754

¥ 563,918

¥ 605,771

¥ 358,095

¥ 251,000

1,311,563

1,279,409

911,996

762,412

15,548

5,321

(383,355)

81,677

FOR THE YEAR:

Net sales

Net income (loss)
Net income (loss) per share (yen and U.S. dollars)

Weighted-average number of common shares (thousands)

¥

0.56

¥

AT YEAR-END:

Property and equipment, less accumulated depreciation
Total assets
Net assets

Notes: 1. Per share data are based on the weighted-average number of common shares.
2. All dollar figures herein refer to U.S. currency. Dollar amounts are translated from yen, for convenience only, at ¥98.23=US$1.00, the approximate exchange rate prevailing on
March 31, 2009.
3. Due to the adoption of the new accounting standard, total shareholders’ equity is no longer presented on the consolidated balance sheets from the fiscal year ended March 31,
2007. Amounts disclosed in the line “Net Assets” for 2000-2006 are those presented as “Total shareholders’ equity” in prior years’ consolidated financial statements. “Net
Assets” under the new accounting standard includes not only the items which used to be included in total shareholders’ equity, but also minority interests and share subscription rights.
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Thousands of
U.S. dollars*

Millions of yen*

2004

2005

2006

2007

2008

2009

2009

¥340,584

¥ 450,652

¥434,303

¥376,666

¥394,102

¥351,624

$3,579,597

290,825

430,184

363,846

304,812

325,362

358,236

3,646,909

49,759

20,468

70,457

71,854

68,740

(6,612)

(67,312)

31,701

40,948

40,219

36,859

37,622

37,464

381,387

18,058

(20,480)

30,238

34,995

31,118

(44,076)

(448,699)

7,239

(101,247)

27,156

27,967

27,543

(52,065)

(530,032)

335

1,140

(6,560)

1,868

11,076

4,349

44,276

6,640

(101,617)

31,900

24,683

16,256

(56,415)

(574,308)

¥ 29.45

¥ (543.43)

¥ 97.61

¥ 74.33

¥ 46.84

¥ (164.87)

184,714

186,991

320,581

326,704

337,399

342,171

¥252,840

¥ 36,142

¥ 21,719

¥ 17,886

¥ 17,806

¥ 12,752

$ 129,815

750,060

430,073

400,886

429,363

464,734

367,522

3,741,439

94,176

53,723

91,081

98,854

113,201

62,820

639,526

$

(1.68)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS

OVERVIEW

billion ($513 million), compared to operating income of ¥27.8 bil-

In the fiscal year ended March 31, 2009, the Japanese economy

lion in the previous fiscal year.

experienced a continuous contract in corporate profits and a deteriorating business sentiment. Due to such factors as a weak indi-

REAL ESTATE MANAGEMENT

vidual consumption against the backdrop of an increasingly severe

In Real Estate Management, in addition to a robust increase in the

employment and income environment, together with a decline in

number of condominium units under management, the results of

residential investments, economic trends are likely to remain stag-

efforts to strengthen earnings power boosted net sales by ¥1.8

nant for the foreseeable future.

billion from the previous fiscal year to ¥31.9 billion ($325 million)

Impacted by the sudden downturn in the economy, the con-

and operating income by ¥1.0 billion, to ¥3.5 billion ($36 million).

dominium market suffered unparalleled business environment.
Sales trends become increasingly severe due to a further dimin-

REAL ESTATE BROKERAGE

ished inclination of consumers and stagnating real income and real

Impacted by the same deteriorating business conditions as faced

estate inventories remain at persistently high levels.

by Real Estate Sales, the Real Estate Brokerage segment saw net
sales decline by ¥0.6 billion from the previous fiscal year to ¥8.5

NET SALES

billion ($86 million), along with an operating loss of ¥0.1 billion ($1

Total net sales in the period under review amounted to ¥351.6 bil-

million), the second consecutive ¥0.1 billion year on year loss.

lion ($3,579 million), a year-on-year decline of ¥42.4 billion.
Contributing factors mainly included increased sales in the Real

CONTRACT WORK

Estate Management segment, although sales in Real Estate Sales

Contract Work sales increased by ¥0.3 billion to ¥35.1 billion ($357

fell by ¥44.1 billion on account of a sharp decline in condominium

million) and operating income climbed by ¥0.7 billion to ¥2.7 bil-

units sold due to dramatically deteriorating business conditions.

lion ($28 million) as a consequence of efforts to enhance earnings
power and steady performance in the large-scale condominium

OPERATING INCOME OR LOSS

repair and parking garage businesses.

In addition to a decline in revenues from condominium sales and
a lower gross profit margin, the downturn in the real estate mar-

OTHER

ket was reflected in the valuation of inventories. In accordance

In the Other segment, which primarily involves the leasing busi-

with accounting standards for inventory valuation, the Company

ness, net sales declined by ¥1.3 billion to ¥11.2 billion ($114 mil-

posted an inventory write-down of ¥43.4 billion. This resulted in

lion) from the previous fiscal year, while operating income improved

an operating loss of ¥44.0 billion ($448 million) from the previous

by ¥0.4 billion to ¥2.1 billion ($22 million).

fiscal year’s operating income of ¥31.1 billion.
FINANCIAL POSITION AND LIQUIDITY
NET INCOME OR LOSS

TOTAL ASSETS

Consolidated net loss totaled ¥56.4 billion ($574 million), a decline

Current Assets

from the net income of ¥16.2 billion in the previous fiscal year.

Current assets as of March 31, 2009, were ¥333.1 billion ($3,391

This drop was due to such factors as ¥2.2 billion owing to a gain

million), a decrease of ¥95.4 billion compared with the end of the

on sales of property and equipment posted as other income, ¥2.5

previous fiscal year.

billion associated with special termination benefits posted as oth-

Inventories declined by ¥108.6 billion to ¥241.0 billion ($2,453

er expense, and, ¥3.1 billion posted as deferred income taxes,

million). This drop was mainly attributable to the sale of real estate

reflecting the reversal of deferred tax assets following more con-

and the posting of valuation losses that led to declines in real estate

servative assessment of the possibility of their realizability.

for sale of ¥17.5 billion, real estate for sale in progress of ¥47.0 billion and real estate for development projects of ¥44.1 billion.

RESULT BY SEGMENT

14

REAL ESTATE SALES

Fixed Assets

Due to the abrupt downturn in the business environment, the rev-

Fixed assets at the end of the period under review amounted to

enues in the mainstay Real Estate Sales segment declined by ¥44.1

¥34.4 billion ($350 million), a decline of ¥1.7 billion from the pre-

billion to ¥267.8 billion ($2,726 million). In addition to the decline

vious year-end. Property and equipment declined ¥5.0 billion on

in operating income from condominium sales and lower gross prof-

the sale of building properties, to ¥12.7 billion ($129 million);

it margin, a write-down of ¥43.4 billion based on accounting stan-

Investments and other assets increased by ¥3.2 billion, to ¥21.6

dards for inventory valuations resulted in an operating loss of ¥50.4

billion ($220 million), owing to an increase as a result of the post-
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OUTLINE OF OPERATION BY SEGMENT
Millions of yen
Net Sales

Real Estate Sales
Real Estate Management
Real Estate Brokerage

Operating Income (Loss)

Fiscal 2008

Fiscal 2009

Increase (Decrease)

Fiscal 2008

Fiscal 2009

¥ 312,037

¥ 267,846

¥(44,191)

¥27,864

¥(50,436)

¥(78,300)

30,109

31,945

1,836

3,587

1,054

2,533

Increase (Decrease)

9,184

8,506

(678)

(143)

(129)

14

Contract Work

34,822

35,145

323

2,015

2,759

744

Other

12,555

11,207

(1,349)

1,748

2,184

435

Eliminations or corporate assets/expenses
Total

(4,605)

(3,024)

¥ 394,102

¥ 351,624

1,581
¥(42,478)

(2,899)

(2,040)

¥31,118

¥(44,076)

859
¥(75,194)

ing of goodwill in line with inclusion of ORIX Facilities Corporation

Net cash provided by investing activities, which in the previ-

as a consolidated subsidiary; and a decrease due to the sale of

ous fiscal year amounted to ¥0.8 billion, increased to ¥14.0 billion

affiliated company stock, and other factors.

($143 million). Major components were proceeds from sales of
property and equipment and the acquisition of shares in subsidiaries.

LIABILITIES

Net cash used in financing amounted to ¥48.5 billion ($493 mil-

Total liabilities decreased by ¥46.8 billion from the previous fiscal

lion) from the ¥37.2 billion provided in the previous fiscal year.

year-end to ¥304.7 billion ($3,101 million). Interest-bearing debt

Major components were an increase in cash from the issuance of

was ¥182.4 billion, representing a ¥46.1 billion decrease on the

shares, and a decline in cash as a result of loan repayment and the

¥228.6 billion recorded as of the previous year-end. This was main-

acquisition of treasury stock.

ly attributable to an allotment made to repay borrowings with funds
acquired through sales activities.

As a result of the aforementioned activities, consolidated cash
and cash equivalents as of March 31, 2009, were ¥67.5 billion
($687 million), up ¥14.4 billion compared with the previous fiscal

NET ASSETS

year-end.

Total net assets in the period under review amounted to ¥62.8 billion ($639 million), a year-on-year decline of ¥50.3 billion. This

RISK FACTORS

decrease was mainly attributable to increases of ¥5.0 billion in cap-

Items within this report that are not statements of historical fact con-

ital in line with the issuance of Class 7 preferred stock as well as

stitute forward-looking statements that are based on management’s

¥14.4 billion in capital surplus on the issuance of Class 7 preferred

evaluation of circumstances as of the fiscal year-end. Accordingly,

stock and Class 8 preferred stock issued with the aim of appro-

statements may differ materially from actual results due to changes

priating the compensation needed for the share exchange to make

in the economic environment and operating conditions.

ORIX Facilities Corporation a subsidiary. On the other hand, retained

As of March 31, 2009, the Daikyo Group has identified certain

earnings decreased due to the ¥56.4 billion of net loss and a ¥10.4

risks that it believes may materially impact its performance and

billion paid for acquisition and retirement of treasury stock (pre-

financial position. In addition, readers are advised that unforeseen

ferred stock). The shareholder’s equity ratio declined by 7.1 points

risks that can significantly affect the Group’s performance and

from the end of the previous fiscal year to 17.1%, and net assets

financial position may arise in the future due to changes in the eco-

per share were ¥79.81, representing a decline of ¥189.06 com-

nomic environment and operating conditions.

pared to the end of the previous fiscal year.

The Daikyo Group is committed to identifying risks on an individual basis and appropriately evaluating each one in an effort to

CASH FLOWS

Net cash provided by operating activities was ¥48.9 billion ($497

establish an optimal risk management system.
The major risks identified as of March 31, 2009 are as follows.

million), contrasting with ¥42.1 billion used in the previous fiscal
year. This rise was attributable, on the one hand, to a decline in
cash as a result of the posting of a net loss before income taxes
and minority interests and a reduction in notes and accounts payable
due to the settlement of construction expenses, and, on the other hand, to increased cash on the back of reduced inventories.
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REAL ESTATE MARKET RISK

to a delay in project completion, the Group’s performance may

The performance of the Real Estate Sales business, the mainstay

be affected.

activity of the Daikyo Group, may experience fluctuations similar
to those that have occurred during the current fiscal year due to

CONDOMINIUM SALES AND DEVELOPMENT BUSINESS RISKS

the impact of market conditions. To be more specific, the Group

The Daikyo Group is engaged in the evaluation and survey of devel-

is particularly susceptible to movements in land prices and con-

opment sites, acquisition, condominium design, construction and

struction costs, the supply of condominiums by and the product

sales. As such, an individual development project extends over a

prices of its competitors. In addition, a significant drop in housing

significant period before income is collected and secured.

demand could be caused in the case of an increase in interest

Furthermore, the Group’s real estate sales business is subject

rates, an economic downturn, or deterioration in corporate earn-

to a variety of public authority approvals and procedures, includ-

ings, personal consumption or changes in real estate-related tax-

ing efforts to gain the support of neighboring residents.

es brought about by fluctuating economic conditions. As a result,

Accordingly, the Daikyo Group is subject to a variety of business

a decline in the value of assets held may affect the Daikyo Group’s

risks that could adversely affect performance. These risks are out-

performance and financial position.

lined briefly as follows.

Regarding real estate inventories held, in the event that there
is a major decrease in prices due to such factors as a worsening

Opposition by Local and Neighboring Residents

of market conditions, losses may be incurred accompanying the

In addition to acquiring all necessary approvals stipulated under the

loss on devaluation of inventories held by the Daikyo Group.

Building Standards Law, the Urban Planning Law and other related

Consequently, the performance and financial position of the Group

laws for each particular condominium development, as well as adher-

may be affected.

ing to local government guidelines, the Daikyo Group strives to obtain
the opinions of neighboring residents and the local community.

REAL ESTATE MANAGEMENT MARKET RISK

The Group performance may be adversely affected by the prospect
of industry price levels related to the real estate management business’ management fees entering a prolonged decline.

At the same time, the Group endeavors to ensure harmony
with the local environment and protect natural surroundings.
Notwithstanding the acquisition of necessary approval, in the
event the Daikyo Group is forced to delay the development process
or amend its initial sales plans due to opposition and negotiations

OTHER MARKET RISKS (LIQUIDITY, INTEREST RATE, SHARE

with local and neighboring residents, the Group’s performance

PRICE AND CURRENCY EXCHANGE FLUCTUATIONS)

may be affected.

Funding to support the Group’s Real Estate Sales business is mainly procured from financial institutions in the form of debt. In the

Site Risk, Soil Contamination

event that the Group’s credit capacity decreases due to deteriorat-

Prior to acquiring land for condominium development, the Daikyo

ing performance, the procurement of financing becomes difficult

Group makes every effort to ascertain the presence of buried

due to a worsening financial situation or existing interest rates rise

objects, soil pollution and chemical substances. In addition, the

above expectations, the Group’s performance may be affected.

Group imposes a liability on the seller at the time of purchase and

As part of its operating and investment activities, the Daikyo
Group maintains equity in publicly listed and private companies.

sale agreement execution to cover soil contamination and damage in an effort to minimize risk.

In the event of a significant devaluation in the Group’s holdings

In the event, however, any ensuing damage materially exceeds

due to an across-the-board and substantial decline in share prices,

expectations or the seller is unable to meet the amount of dam-

the Group’s performance may be affected.

ages incurred, thereby resulting in changes in original develop-

In addition, the Group, which has an overseas subsidiary in
Taiwan, may be adversely affected by the appreciation in the val-

ment plans, delay in completion or increase in costs, the Group’s
business performance may be affected.

ue of the yen over Taiwan dollars due to currency exchange rates.
Incidence of Defects
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CREDIT RISK

With regard to condominium construction work, the Daikyo Group

In the natural course of its condominium development and sales

places orders with construction companies that possess sufficient

activities and contract work business, the Daikyo Group enters into

technical expertise, based on its own in-house standards, and has

construction agreements with a number of construction and con-

systems in place to comply with mandatory building regulations,

tracting companies. In the event that a contracted construction

including earthquake resistance. In addition to enforcing strict

company suffers a material loss of credibility, which contributes

quality management controls that meet proprietary quality and
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design standards and those of investigative commissions upon

DISASTER RISK

the completion of each construction project, multiple checks are

The Daikyo Group’s performance may be affected by earthquakes

carried out at each stage of design and construction.

or other natural disasters, including wind and flood damage, acci-

In the event, however, any unforeseen circumstance involving

dents, and fires, or by terrorist attacks.

an incidence of a design or construction defect arose, the Group
could be held liable and incur repair work and compensation costs.

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS

The terms and extent any such loss may affect Group performance.

The Daikyo Group accrues tax loss carryforwards, which are recorded under deferred tax assets. Deferred tax assets are recorded after

Changes in Real Estate-Related Laws

careful consideration has been given to their realizability, based on

In the event future changes in the Building Standard Law, Urban

forecasts of future taxable income. However, deferred tax assets

Planning Law and real estate-related laws result in new obligations

may have an impact on the Group’s net income for the period in the

imposed on the Daikyo Group or an increase in costs, the Group’s

event of an adjustment becoming necessary due to subsequent

performance may be affected.

business performance.
If it becomes apparent that the Daikyo Group is unable to cre-

OPERATIONAL RISK

ate sufficient taxable income in future years to fully use the tax

The Daikyo Group is aware that it faces a wide range of opera-

loss carryforwards within a certain allowable number of years under

tional risks in the performance of its business, such as improper

tax regulations, then the tax benefit is regarded to have been lost,

sales practices, employee fraud, administrative errors and the

and the related deferred tax assets if recorded are charged to tax

occurrence of labor disputes. The Group endeavors to control such

expenses at that time.

operational risks and maintain a reasonable level of management
control. However, the Group’s business performance may be

GOODWILL

affected should a decline in sales result from the Daikyo Group

The Daikyo Group allocates the goodwill occurring in conjunction

falling into disrepute or incurring payments for damages stemming

with business acquisitions. The Group believes that its future earn-

from a case involving any of the abovementioned risks.

ings power, gained from results demonstrated in the value of each
business and the synergistic effects of business integration, is

LEGAL RISKS (PERSONAL INFORMATION MANAGEMENT)

appropriately reflected to the goodwill recorded in the balance

As part of its real estate business, the Daikyo Group collects and

sheet. However, in the event that anticipated performance does

maintains a significant volume of personal information from a vari-

not occur due to such factors as changes in business conditions

ety of sources, including real estate purchasers, individuals con-

and competition, impairment losses could be incurred that may

templating the purchase of real estate and compartmentalized

affect the Group’s performance.

owners. The Daikyo Group maintains internal rules and systems
to handle personal information in accordance with the Personal

PREFERRED STOCK

Information Protection Law.

Acquisition rights are granted for Daikyo Group-issued Class 1,

In the event of an unforeseen circumstance in which person-

Class 2, Class 4, Class 7 and Class 8 preferred stock (subsequently

al information is lost or leaked externally, resulting in a loss of cred-

referred to as preferred stock), and preferred shareholders can

ibility, decline in sales or a claim for damages, the Group’s

request that the Company acquires preferred stock and convert it

performance may be affected.

to common stock.
The period for requesting acquisition of the preferred stock

SYSTEM RISK

(the “acquisition requesting period”) is 18 years from October 1,

The Daikyo Group implements measures including data backup to

2007 for Class 1 and Class 2 preferred stock, 20 years from October

ensure the safety and reliability of its computer systems. In the event

1, 2009 for Class 4 preferred stock, and 20 years from April 1, 2011

of unforeseen circumstances in which the Group’s systems are sus-

for Class 7 and Class 8 preferred stock. Should common stock be

pended, resulting in damages that significantly impact the Group’s

issued in accordance with a request for preferred stock acquisi-

business process and activities, performance may be affected.

tion, the number of the Company’s common shares will increase
and consequently Daikyo’s stock price may be affected.
As of June 24, 2009, which is within the acquisition requesting period for Class 1 and Class 2 preferred stock, no requests had
been received.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
March 31, 2008 and 2009

Thousands of
U.S. dollars (Note 5)

Millions of yen

ASSETS

2008

2009

2009

¥ 53,162

¥ 67,592

$ 688,097

5,770

8,599

87,539

CURRENT ASSETS:

Cash and deposits (Note 10)
Notes and accounts receivable
Allowance for doubtful accounts

(69)

(208)

(2,115)

349,685

241,026

2,453,690

Advance payments

2,548

1,161

11,816

Deferred tax assets

4,348

2,254

22,948

Inventories (Notes 6 and 9)

Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets

13,128

12,698

129,273

428,572

333,122

3,391,248

14,600

9,712

98,870

5,644

5,653

57,543

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Land
Buildings and structures
Furniture and other equipment

2,289

2,332

23,743

22,533

17,697

180,156

(4,727)

(4,945)

(50,341)

17,806

12,752

129,815

Investment securities (Notes 7)

2,731

1,579

16,078

Other investments

1,987

2,244

22,847

(550)

(953)

(9,698)

Accumulated depreciation
Net property and equipment

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER ASSETS:

Allowance for doubtful accounts
Deferred tax assets
Other Assets
Total investments and other fixed assets

Total assets
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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1,169

423

4,302

13,019

18,355

186,847

18,356

21,648

220,376

¥464,734

¥367,522

$3,741,439

Thousands of
U.S. dollars (Note 5)

Millions of yen

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

2008

2009

2009

500

¥ 12,519

$ 127,446

55,403

58,644

597,007

CURRENT LIABILITIES:

Short-term borrowings (Note 9)
Current portion of long-term debt (Note 9)
Commercial papers

¥

3,000

—

—

0

12,300

125,216

Notes and accounts payable

84,318

74,660

760,050

Advances received from customers

11,286

12,604

128,308

Bonds due within one year

Accrued expenses

5,223

7,118

72,467

Income taxes payable

1,047

1,425

14,503

Other current liabilities

11,294

16,127

164,177

172,071

195,397

1,989,174

169,745

98,911

1,006,933

3,113

2,577

26,239

645

478

4,868

Total current liabilities
LONG-TERM LIABILITIES:

Long-term debt (Note 9)
Allowance for employees’ retirement benefits (Note 11)
Deferred tax liabilities
Other liabilities

5,958

7,338

74,698

Total long-term liabilities

179,461

109,304

1,112,738

Total liabilities

351,532

304,701

3,101,912

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (Note 13)

NET ASSETS:

Shareholders’ equity:
Capital stock
Common stock
Authorized: 1,191,000,000 shares at March 31, 2008; 1,152,400,000 shares at March 31, 2009
Issued: 345,387,738 shares at March 31, 2008, and 2009
Preferred stock (Note 14)
Authorized: 50,000,000 shares at March 31, 2008; 88,600,000 shares at March 31, 2009
Issued: 50,000,000 shares at March 31, 2008; 88,598,144 shares at March 31, 2009

27,064

32,063

326,410

Capital surplus

29,046

43,485

442,689

Retained earnings (Accumulated deficits)

57,493

(11,559)

(117,670)

Treasury stock

(1,314)

(1,307)

(13,307)

112,289

62,682

638,122

194

89

910

Translation adjustments

3

(34)

(351)

197

56

559

Share subscription rights

716

83

846

113,202

62,820

639,526

¥464,734

¥367,522

$3,741,439

Valuation and translation adjustments:
Net unrealized gains on other securities (Note 7)

Total net assets
Total liabilities and net assets
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
For the years ended March 31, 2008 and 2009

Thousands of
U.S. dollars (Note 5)

Millions of yen

2008

2009

2009

¥394,102

¥351,624

$3,579,597

325,362

358,236

3,646,909

68,740

(6,612)

(67,312)

37,622

37,464

381,387

31,118

(44,076)

(448,699)

199

127

1,296

(3,444)

(3,656)

(37,216)

Gain on sales of property and equipment

7

1,121

11,414

Loss on sales of property and equipment

(0)

(0)

(2)

(217)

—

—

Default compensation

—

(2,641)

(26,882)

Gains on bond redemption

—

425

4,327

Reversal on share subscription rights

—

740

7,537

Special termination benefits

—

(2,506)

(25,510)

(120)

(1,599)

(16,297)

27,543

(52,065)

(530,032)

838

1,200

12,213

10,239

3,150

32,063

(210)

—

—

¥ 16,256

¥ (56,415)

$ (574,308)

NET SALES

COST OF SALES

Gross profit (loss)

SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Operating income (loss)

OTHER INCOME (Expenses):

Interest and dividend income
Interest expense

Loss on sales of investment in subsidiaries or affiliates

Other, net
Income (loss) before income taxes and minority interest

INCOME TAXES (Note 12)

Current
Deferred

MINORITY INTERESTS

Net income (loss)

Yen

U.S. dollars (Note 5)

PER SHARE:

Net income (loss)
Fully diluted net income*
Cash dividends
WEIGHTED-AVERAGE NUMBER OF COMMON SHARES (thousands)

¥ 46.84

¥ (164.87)

29.76

—

—

5.00

—

—

337,399

342,171

546,305

—

WEIGHTED-AVERAGE NUMBER OF COMMON SHARES FOR
DILUTED COMPUTATION (thousands)
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
*Fully diluted net income per share for the year ended March 31, 2009 is not shown due to the net loss.
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$

(1.68)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS
For the years ended March 31, 2008 and 2009

Thousands of
U.S. dollars (Note 5)

Millions of yen

2008

2009

2009

27,000

27,064

275,509

Issuance of new stocks

—

5,000

50,901

Proceeds from the issuance of stocks by exercise of share subscription rights

63

—

—

27,064

32,063

326,410

17,736

29,046

295,694

Issuance of new stocks

—

5,000

50,901

Proceeds from the issuance of stocks by exercise of share subscription rights

63

—

—

11,247

9,439

96,094

(0)

(10,472)

(106,600)

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Capital Stock:
BALANCE, BEGINNING OF YEAR
Changes during the year

BALANCE, END OF YEAR

Capital Surplus:
BALANCE, BEGINNING OF YEAR
Changes during the year

Change in stock exchange
Retirement of treasury stock
Transfer from retained earnings to additional paid-in capital

0

10,472

106,600

29,046

43,485

442,689

42,010

57,493

585,286

Cash dividends

(1,380)

(2,166)

(22,049)

Net income (loss)

16,256

(56,415)

(574,307)

BALANCE, END OF YEAR

Retained Earnings (Accumulated deficits):
BALANCE, BEGINNING OF YEAR
Changes during the year

Transfer from retained earnings to additional paid-in capital
Increase in retained earnings resulting from exclusion of subsidiaries from consolidation
BALANCE, END OF YEAR

(0)

(10,472)

(106,600)

607

—

—

57,493

(11,559)

(117,670)

(153)

(1,314)

(13,375)

(89)

—

—

(1,076)

(10,481)

(106,697)

Treasury Stock:
BALANCE, BEGINNING OF YEAR
Changes during the year
Change in stock exchange
Acquisition of treasury stock
Retirement of treasury stock
BALANCE, END OF YEAR

4

10,488

106,765

(1,314)

(1,307)

(13,307)

85,593

112,289

1,143,114

25,695

(49,606)

(504,992)

112,289

62,682

638,122

Total Shareholders’ Equity:
BALANCE, BEGINNING OF YEAR
Changes during the year
Other changes during the year, net
BALANCE, END OF YEAR
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS (CONTINUED)
For the years ended March 31, 2008 and 2009

Thousands of
U.S. dollars (Note 5)

Millions of yen

2008

2009

2009

VALUATION AND TRANSLATION ADJUSTMENTS

Net Unrealized Gains On Other Securities:
BALANCE, BEGINNING OF YEAR

588

194

1,977

Other changes during the year, net

(394)

(105)

(1,067)

BALANCE, END OF YEAR

194

89

910

—

3

31

Other changes during the year, net

3

(37)

(382)

BALANCE, END OF YEAR

3

(34)

(351)

588

197

2,008

Other changes during the year, net

(391)

(141)

(1,449)

BALANCE, END OF YEAR

197

56

559

287

716

7,291

Other changes during the year, net

429

(633)

(6,445)

BALANCE, END OF YEAR

716

83

846

11,386

—

—

(11,386)

—

—

—

—

—

98,853

113,202

1,152,413

—

10,000

101,802

127

—

—

Changes during the year

Translation Adjustments:
BALANCE, BEGINNING OF YEAR
Changes during the year

Total Valuation And Translation Adjustments:
BALANCE, BEGINNING OF YEAR
Changes during the year

SHARE SUBSCRIPTION RIGHTS

BALANCE, BEGINNING OF YEAR
Changes during the year

MINORITY INTERESTS

BALANCE, BEGINNING OF YEAR
Changes during the year
Other changes during the year, net
BALANCE, END OF YEAR

TOTAL NET ASSETS

BALANCE, BEGINNING OF YEAR
Changes during the year
Issuance of new stocks
Proceeds from the issuance of stocks by exercise of share subscription rights
Change in stock exchange

11,158

9,439

96,093

Cash dividends

(1,380)

(2,166)

(22,050)

Net income (loss)

16,256

(56,414)

(574,307)

Acquisition of treasury stock

(1,076)

(10,481)

(106,697)

Retirement of treasury stock

4

16

165

607

—

—

Other changes during the year, net

(11,348)

(774)

(7,894)

BALANCE, END OF YEAR

113,202

62,820

639,526

Increase in rertained earnings resulting from exclusion of subsidiaries from consolidation

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the years ended March 31, 2008 and 2009

Thousands of
U.S. dollars (Note 5)

Millions of yen

2008

2009

2009

¥ 27,543

¥ (52,065)

$ (530,032)

985
17
218
(60)
14
(199)
3,444
—
—
—
—
(8,226)
(53,638)
(3,247)
(2,118)
(946)
(36,213)
197
(3,428)
(2,668)
(42,112)

990
(890)
—
—
225
(127)
3,656
(42)
(425)
397
628
—
110,045
(13,062)
(1,656)
5,638
53,312
127
(3,638)
(901)
48,900

10,075
(9,059)
—
—
2,291
(1,296)
37,216
(431)
(4,327)
4,040
6,396
—
1,120,280
(132,975)
(16,856)
57,405
542,727
1,295
(37,037)
(9,178)
497,807

(319)
7
(233)
3,490
(2,205)
—
—
(46)
79
30
803

(249)
6,805
(347)
1,057
—
120
6,622
(21)
68
—
14,055

(2,533)
69,273
(3,534)
10,766
—
1,222
67,408
(212)
697
—
143,087

(10)
3,000
106,430
(87,575)
17,918
—
—
(1,370)
(1,090)
4
127
(141)
37,293

12,019
(3,000)
30,608
(84,201)
—
(1,275)
(9)
(2,144)
(10,481)
16
9,965
—
(48,502)

122,356
(30,541)
311,595
(857,182)
—
(12,980)
(97)
(21,828)
(106,697)
165
101,446
—
(493,763)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Income (loss) before income taxes and minority interest
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortization
Loss (gain) on sales of property and equipment
Loss on sales of investment in subsidiaries or affiliates
Gain on sales of investment securities
Provision for allowance for doubtful accounts
Interest and dividend income
Interest expense
Equity in (earning) loss of non-consolidated subsidiaries and affiliates
Gains on bond redemption
Changes in trade receivable
Changes in advances received from customers
Changes in notes and accounts receivable and accrued expenses
Changes in real estate inventories and advance payments
Changes in notes and accounts payable
Changes in guarantee deposits
Other
Subtotal
Interest and dividends received
Interest paid
Income taxes paid
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

Payments for purchase of property and equipment
Proceeds from sales of property and equipment
Payments for purchase of intangible fixed assets
Proceeds from sales of investments in subsidiaries and affiliates
Payments for purchase of investments in subsidiaries and affiliates
Proceeds from sales and redemption of securities
Proceeds from purchase of investments in subsidiaries and affiliate due to stock exchange
Increases in loans
Collections of loans
Changes in time deposit
Net cash provided by investing activities
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Changes in short-term borrowings
Changes in commercial papers
Proceeds from long-term debt
Repayment of long-term debt
Proceeds from issuance of bonds
Payments for redemption of bonds
Repayment of lease obligations
Cash dividends paid
Expenditure on acquisition of treasury stock
Proceeds from sale of treasury stock
Proceeds from issuance of stocks
Other
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES ON CASH AND

3

(37)

(382)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR

¥ (4,013)
57,175

¥ 14,416
53,162

$ 146,749
541,206

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR (Note 10)

¥ 53,162

¥ 67,578

$ 687,955

CASH EQUIVALENTS
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

01

BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of Daikyo

accepted accounting principles, in which case a certain limited num-

Incorporated. (“the Company”) and its consolidated subsidiaries

ber of items shall be adjusted to the Japanese GAAP. This change

have been prepared in accordance with the provisions set forth in

did not have significant impact to the consolidated financial state-

the Japanese Financial Instruments and Exchange Law and its

ments. The accompanying consolidated financial statements have

related accounting regulations, and in conformity with accounting

been restructured and translated into English (with certain expand-

principles generally accepted in Japan (“Japanese GAAP”), which

ed disclosure) from the consolidated financial statements of the

are different in certain respects as to application and disclosure

Company prepared in accordance with Japanese GAAP and filed

requirements from International Financial Reporting Standards.

with the appropriate Local Finance Bureau of the Ministry of Finance

The accounts of consolidated overseas subsidiaries were based

as required by the Financial Instruments and Exchange Law. Certain

on their accounting records maintained in conformity with gener-

supplementary information included in the statutory Japanese lan-

ally accepted accounting principles prevailing in the respective coun-

guage consolidated financial statements, but not required for fair

tries of domicile up to the year ended march 31, 2008. However,

presentation, is not presented in the accompanying consolidated

effective from the year ended March 31, 2009, the accounting poli-

financial statements.

cies of the overseas subsidiaries are basically integrated with those

Certain prior year amounts in the consolidated financial

of the Company unless they are prepared differently in accordance

statements and notes thereto have been reclassified to conform to

with International Financial Reporting Standards or U.S. generally

the current year presentation.

02

ACCOUNTING CHANGES

ACCOUNTING STANDARD FOR LEASE TRANSACTIONS

Standards Board of Japan on January 18, 1994, as revised on March

In prior years, finance lease transactions that do not transfer own-

30, 2007). Under the new standard, such transactions shall be

ership were accounted for in a manner similar to accounting treat-

accounted for in a similar manner with ordinary sale and purchase

ment for ordinary rental transactions. However, effective from the

transactions.

year ended March 31, 2009, the Company and its consolidated

In addition, finance lease transactions that do not transfer own-

subsidiaries adopted the new accounting standard, “Accounting

ership prior to March 31, 2008 continue to be accounted for in a

Standard for Lease Transactions” (Statement No. 13 issued by the

manner similar to accounting treatment for ordinary rental trans-

Accounting Standards Board of Japan on June 17, 1993, as revised

actions subject to specific disclosure in the notes. The effect of

on March 30, 2007), and the “Guidance on Accounting Standard

this change on operating loss and loss before income taxes and

for Lease Transactions” (the Financial Accounting Standard

minority interest was insignificant.

Implementation Guidance No. 16 issued by the Accounting

03

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(1) CONSOLIDATION AND INVESTMENTS IN

Equity
ownership
percentage

AFFILIATED COMPANIES

The Company had 14 subsidiaries as at March 31, 2009 (10 sub-

Daikyo Reald Incorporated

sidiaries as at March 31, 2008). The consolidated financial state-

Daikyo Astage Incorporated

100

ments include the accounts of the Company and 11 (7 for 2008)

ORIX Facilities Corporation *

100

significant subsidiaries at March 31, 2009.

Asset Wave Incorporated

100

Taiwan Daikyo Incorporated

100

The major subsidiaries which have been consolidated with the
Company are listed to the right:

100%

All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated
in consolidation.
* ORIX Facilities Corporation is a new, wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company this year.

Investments in significant affiliates, where the Company has the
ability to exercise significant influence by way of 20%–50% ownership or other means, are accounted for by using the equity method.
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For the year ended March 31, 2008, the equity method was
applied to an investment in one affiliate.
No affiliate was accounted for by the equity method as at and
for the year ended March 31 2009.

(4) INVENTORIES AND BASIS OF REVENUE RECOGNITION

Real estate for sale, real estate for sale in progress and real
estate for development projects are stated at cost, using the specific identification method.

As of March 31, 2009, the equity method is no longer applied

The write-downs of inventories due to decreased profitability

to ORIX Asset Management Corporation, because the Company

is reflected in the valuation of assets and the accompanying loss

has sold all of the its shares.

is recognized as cost of goods sold, in principle.

(2) TRANSACTION OF FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS
AND ACCOUNTS

All assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
translated into Japanese yen at the exchange rates prevailing at

Revenue from sales of condominiums and land is recognized
when units are delivered and accepted by the customers.
Revenue from leasing of office space and shops is recognized
as rent accrued over the life of the lease.

the balance sheet date. Resulting gains and losses are included in
net profit or loss for the period.

(5) PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

For foreign currency financial statements of overseas subsidiaries,

Property and equipment, including significant renewals and

all assets, liabilities, income and expense accounts are translated at

improvements, are carried at cost less depreciation. Maintenance

year-end rates. Capital stock, capital surplus and retained earnings

and repairs, including minor renewals and betterments, are charged

are translated at historical rates. Adjustments resulting from the

to income as incurred. Depreciation is computed on the declining-

translation of financial statements are presented as “Translation

balance method for property and equipment except for buildings,

adjustments,” a separate component of Net Assets.

which are computed mostly on the straight-line method, based on
the estimated useful lives of assets.

(3) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Fixed assets are reviewed for impairment wherever events or

Held-to-maturity debt securities that the Company and its sub-

changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an

sidiaries have and intend to hold until maturity are stated at amor-

asset may not be recoverable. If an asset is considered to be

tized cost. Investment in non-consolidated subsidiaries and affiliates

impaired, the impairment loss is recognized for the period.

not accounted for under the equity method are stated at cost using

When retired or disposed of, the difference between the net

the moving-average method. Other securities with quoted market

book value and sales proceeds is charged or credited to income.

prices are stated at their quoted market prices on the consolidat-

Estimated useful lives are as follows:

ed balance sheet date, and other securities where quoted market

Buildings and structures: 3 to 60 years.

prices are not available are stated at cost using the moving-average method. Net unrealized gains or losses on other securities are

(6) ALLOWANCE FOR DOUBTFUL ACCOUNTS

included directly in net assets, net of applicable income taxes.

A general allowance for doubtful accounts is provided at an amount

In cases where the fair value of held-to-maturity debt securities,

calculated based on historical experience, while specific allowances

or other securities, has declined significantly and such impairment

for doubtful accounts are provided for the estimated amounts con-

of the value is considered other than temporary, the difference

sidered to be uncollectible after reviewing individual collectibility.

between the carrying amount and its fair value is recognized as an
impairment loss, and is reported in the consolidated statements
of operations for the period.
Debt securities matured within one year are presented as
“current” and all the other securities are presented as “non-current.”

(7) RETIREMENT BENEFITS

The Company and its subsidiaries in Japan have severance indemnity plans and non-contributory defined benefit funded pension
plans, covering substantially all of their employees who meet eligibility requirements of the retirement regulations. Under the
plans, employees whose service with the company is terminat-
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ed are, under most circumstances, entitled to lump-sum sever-

term and the residual value equals to zero. Finance lease trans-

ance indemnities and/or pension annuity payments, determined

actions that do not transfer ownership and were entered into pri-

by reference to current basic rate of pay, length of service and

or to March 31, 2008 continue to be accounted for in a manner

conditions under which the termination occurs. The funding pol-

similar to accounting treatment for ordinary rental transactions.

icy is to make contributions that can be deducted for Japanese
income tax purposes.

(11) STOCK OPTIONS

The Company and certain subsidiaries in Japan also have con-

On June 28, 2005, the shareholders of the Company approved the

tributory defined pension plans, covering substantially all of their

issuance of stock options for the directors and certain employees

employees. The pension benefits are determined based on years

of the Company and its affiliates. The stock options are exercis-

of service and the compensation amount as stipulated in the reg-

able from June 29, 2007 to June 28, 2015. If all stock options out-

ulations. The governmental welfare pension contributions are fund-

standing as of March 31, 2009 were exercised, 4,708,000 shares

ed in conformity with the requirements regulated by the Japanese

of common stock of the Company would be newly issued. The

Welfare Pension Insurance Law.

exercise price of the options were set at ¥390 ($4.0) at the date

The allowance for retirement benefit for employees is recog-

of grant.

nized based on the estimated present value of projected benefit

On June 28, 2006, the shareholders of the Company approved

obligations in excess of the fair value of the plan assets at the end

the additional issuance of stock options for the directors and cer-

of each fiscal year. Prior service costs are expensed as incurred.

tain employees of the Company and its affiliates. The stock options

Net actuarial gains (losses) are amortized under the straight-line

additionally issued are exercisable from June 29, 2008 to June 28,

method over 5–8 years, based on the employees’ average remain-

2016. 309,000 shares of common stock of the Company shall be

ing service period, commencing from the following fiscal year after

newly issued upon the exercise of the stock options outstanding

they arise.

as of March 31, 2009. The exercise prices of the options were set
at ¥591 ($6.0) when granted.

(8) DIRECTORS’ RETIREMENT BENEFITS

Provision for the retirement benefits for directors is made based

(12) DERIVATIVES

upon the estimated future payment to directors in accordance with

Interests received or paid under qualifying interest swaps, which

an internal rule.

the Company entered into with financial institutions for hedging
purpose, are accrued instead of measuring the swaps at fair val-

(9) INCOME TAXES

ues, if they meet certain conditions required under generally accept-

The provision for income taxes is computed based on income

ed accounting principles in Japan. No derivative contracts were

before income taxes and minority interest in the consolidated state-

outstanding as at March 31, 2008 and 2009.

ments of operations. The asset and liability approach is used to
recognize deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future

(13) NET INCOME AND FULLY DILUTED NET INCOME PER SHARE

tax consequences of temporary differences between the carrying

Net income per share is computed based on the weighted aver-

amounts and the tax basis assets and liabilities and the tax loss

age number of shares of common stock issued and outstanding

carryforwards.

during each fiscal period.

(10) LEASE CONTRACTS

income available for distribution to the shareholders and the weighted-

(Lease Assets Related to Finance Lease Transactions that do not

average number of shares of common stock outstanding during

transfer the Ownership)

each year after giving effect to the dilutive potential of shares of

Diluted net income per share is computed based on the net

Depreciation expenses arising from a leased asset in a finance
lease transaction that does not transfer ownership are calculated
based on the assumption that the useful life equals to the lease
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common stock to be issued upon the exercise of preferred stock
and stock subscription rights.

04

NET ASSETS

Under Japanese laws and regulations, the entire amount paid for

Under the Law, in the case of the Company, legal earnings

new shares is basically required to be designated as common

reserve and additional paid-in capital could be used to eliminate or

stock. However, a company may, by a resolution of the Board of

reduce a deficit by a resolution of the Board of Directors.

Directors, designate an amount not exceeding one-half of the price

Additional paid-in capital and legal earnings reserve may not

of the new shares as additional paid-in capital, which is included

be distributed as dividends. However, all additional paid-in-capital

in capital surplus.

and all legal earnings reserve may be transferred to other capital

Under the Japanese Corporate Law (‘the Law’), in cases where
a dividend distribution of surplus is made, the smaller of an amount

surplus and retained earnings, respectively, which are potentially
available for dividends.

equal to 10% of the dividend or the excess, if any, of 25% of

The maximum amount that the Company can distribute as

common stock over the total of additional paid-in-capital and legal

dividends is calculated based on the non-consolidated financial

earnings reserve must be set aside as additional paid-in-capital or

statements of the Company in accordance with Japanese laws

legal earnings reserve. Legal earnings reserve is included in retained

and regulations.

earnings in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

05

UNITED STATES DOLLAR AMOUNTS

The Companies maintain their accounting records in Japanese yen.

the convenience of the reader and is not intended to imply that

The translation of the yen amount into U.S. dollars are included

Japanese yen amounts have been or could be readily converted,

using the prevailing exchange rate at March 31, 2009, ¥98.23=

realized or settled in U.S. dollars at this or any other rate.

US$1.00. The inclusion of such U.S. dollar amounts is solely for

06

INVENTORIES

Inventories at March 31, 2008 and 2009, consisted of:
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

Millions of yen

2008

2009

2009

¥ 49,815

¥ 37,998

$ 386,828

16,004

10,310

104,957

65,819

48,308

491,785

152,613

105,589

1,074,911

131,043

80,897

823,549

Real estate for sale
Condominiums
Land and others
Subtotal
Real estate for sale in progress
Real estate for development projects
Condominiums
Land and others

210

6,232

63,445

Subtotal

131,253

87,129

886,994

Total

¥349,685

¥241,026

$2,453,690
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07

SECURITIES

Information regarding the investment in securities as of March 31, 2008 and 2009, except for those in unconsolidated subsidiaries and
affiliates not accounted for under the equity method, are summarized as follows:
(1) MARKET VALUE OF BONDS HELD TO MATURITY
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

Millions of yen

2008

2009

2009

¥265

¥291

$2,962

269

295

2,999

4

4

37

Book value

145

—

—

Market value

145

—

—

0

—

—

¥410

¥291

$2,962

414

295

2,999

4

4

37

Securities with market value that exceed book value
Book value
Market value
Difference
Securities with market value that do not exceed book value

Difference
Total
Book value
Market value
Difference
(2) OTHER SECURITIES WITH MARKET PRICES AVAILABLE

Thousands of
U.S. dollars

Millions of yen

2008

2009

2009

Securities with acquisition cost that exceed market value
Stocks
¥ 561

¥ 715

$ 7,282

Market value

Acquisition cost

946

876

8,922

Difference

385

161

1,640

Acquisition cost

313

122

1,245

Market value

256

120

1,221

Difference

(57)

(2)

(24)

¥ 874

¥ 837

$ 8,527

1,202

996

10,143

328

159

1,616

Securities with acquisition cost that do not exceed market value
Stocks

Total
Acquisition cost
Market value
Difference
(3) OTHER SECURITIES SOLD DURING THE FISCAL YEARS ENDED MARCH 31, 2008 AND 2009
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

Millions of yen

Amount sold
Gain

28
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2008

2009

¥319

¥ 5

60

—

2009

$

51
—

(4) BOOK VALUES OF SECURITIES WITHOUT MARKET VALUE
Book value
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

Millions of yen

2008

2009

2009

¥130

¥196

$1,997

Other securities
Unlisted stocks

(5) DEBT SECURITIES, ACCOUNTED FOR AS HELD-TO-MATURITY SECURITIES OR OTHER SECURITIES, WILL BE MATURED UNDER
THE FOLLOWING SCHEDULE:
Maturity value
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

Millions of yen

2008

2009

¥120

¥ 5

Over one year and within five years

220

215

2,189

Over five years and within ten years

75

75

764

Within one year

08

2009

$

51

LEASE TRANSACTIONS

If finance leases that do not transfer the ownership of the assets to the lessee at the end of the lease term had been capitalized, finance
lease assets at March 31, 2008 and 2009 would have been as follows:
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

Millions of yen

Acquisition cost
Accumulated depreciation
Net book value
Depreciation

2008

2009

2009

¥ 2,047

¥ 1,607

$16,359

(995)

(933)

(9,494)

¥ 1,052

¥ 674

$ 6,865

¥ 465

¥ 449

$ 4,567

Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the lease term of the leased assets, the residual values of which
are zero.
Lease rental expenses on finance lease contracts without transfer of ownership for the years ended March 31, 2008 and 2009, are
summarized as follows:
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

Millions of yen

Lease rental expense

2008

2009

2009

¥465

¥449

$ 4,567

The amount of outstanding future lease payments under finance lease contracts due at March 31, 2008 and 2009, which included
the portion of interest thereon, is summarized as follows:
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

Millions of yen

2008

2009

2009

¥ 427

¥ 325

$ 3,306

625

350

3,558

¥ 1,052

¥ 675

$ 6,864

Future lease payments
Within one year
Over one year
Total
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The amounts of outstanding future lease rental payments payable and receivable under operating lease contracts due at March 31,
2008 and 2009, are summarized as follows:
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

Millions of yen

2008

2009

2009

¥ 490

¥ 713

$ 7,261

5,383

5,325

54,213

¥ 5,873

¥ 6,038

$61,474

¥ 531

¥ 532

$ 5,412

Future lease payments payable
Within one year
Over one year
Total
Future lease payments receivable
Within one year
Over one year
Total

09

5,936

5,405

55,020

¥ 6,467

¥ 5,937

$60,432

SHORT-TERM DEBT AND LONG-TERM DEBT

Short-term debt and long-term debt at March 31, 2008 and 2009 consisted of the following:
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

Millions of yen

2008

Average

2009

2009

500

¥ 12,519

$ 127,446

55,403

58,644

597,007

1.38

interest rate

Short-term debt
Short-term borrowings
Current portion of long-term debt
Current portion of lease obligations
Commercial papers
Bonds

¥

1.23%

—

15

157

11.70

3,000

—

—

—

—

12,300

125,216

1.48

124,745

67,911

691,347

1.41

Long-term debt
Long-term borrowings
Lease obligations
Bonds
Total

—

60

612

11.70

45,000

31,000

315,586

1.62

¥228,648

¥182,449

$1,857,371

Bonds at March 31, 2008 and 2009 consisted of the following:
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

Millions of yen

2008

2009

2009

1.48% domestic straight bonds, due 2010

¥14,000

¥12,300

$125,216

1.88% domestic straight bonds, due 2012

13,000

13,000

132,342

1.44% domestic straight bonds, due 2010
Total

18,000

18,000

183,243

¥45,000

¥43,300

$440,801

The aggregate annual maturities of long-term borrowings including current portion outstanding at March 31, 2009, during the next
five years and thereafter were as follows:
Year ending March 31

Millions of yen

Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2010

¥ 58,644

$ 597,007

2011

48,925

498,066

2012

10,332

105,182

2013

—

—

2014

8,654

88,099

—

—

¥126,555

$1,288,354

2015 and thereafter
Total
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Assets pledged as collateral for short-term loans, and long-term loans with banks at March 31, 2008 and 2009 were as follows:
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

Millions of yen

Inventories

2008

2009

2009

¥86,456

¥22,714

$231,235

Other assets

1,492

1,413

14,381

Total

¥87,948

¥24,127

$245,616

10

CASH FLOW INFORMATION

(1) Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, bank deposits withdrawable on demand and highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less and a low risk of fluctuation in value.
(2) Cash and cash equivalents at March 31, 2008 and 2009 consisted of the following:
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

Millions of yen

Cash and deposits
Time deposits with deposit term of over 3 months
Cash and Cash Equivalents

2008

2009

2009

¥53,162

¥67,592

$688,097

—

(14)

(143)

¥53,162

¥67,578

$687,955

(3) Assets and liabilities of the companies, which is additionally included into consolidation.
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

Millions of yen

Current assets
Other assets

2008

2009

2009

¥ 1,351

¥ 11,445

$ 116,511

115

1,198

12,192

Total assets

¥ 1,466

¥ 12,643

$ 128,703

Current liabilities

¥ 731

¥ 7,537

$ 76,726

74

1,859

18,923

¥ 805

¥ 9,396

$ 95,649

Long-term liabilities
Total liabilities
(4) Significant non-cash transactions

Thousands of
U.S. dollars

Millions of yen

Increase in additional paid-in capital due to share exchange with consolidated subsidiaries

2008

2009

2009

¥ 11,247

¥ 9,439

$ 96,093
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EMPLOYEES’ RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

The Company and its consolidated domestic subsidiaries have defined benefit retirement plans that include corporate defined benefit
pensions plans (CDBPs), which are governed by the Japanese Welfare Pension Insurance Law, tax-qualified pension plans and lumpsum payment plans.
The allowance for retirement benefits as of March 31, 2008 and 2009 is analyzed as follows:
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

Millions of yen

Projected benefit obligations
Plan asset
Net
Unrecognized transition amount
Prior service cost
Unrecognized actuarial differences
Subtotal
Prepaid pension cost
Net

2008

2009

2009

¥14,149

¥13,756

$140,035

9,038

5,627

57,280

(5,111)

(8,129)

(82,755)

869

745

7,580

2,140

5,652

57,560

(16)

(8)

(77)

(2,118)

(1,740)

(17,712)

995

837

8,527

¥ 3,113

¥ 2,577

$ 26,239

Net pension expense related to retirement benefits for the years ended March 31, 2008 and 2009 is as follows:
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

Millions of yen

Service cost

2008

2009

2009

¥ 847

¥ 917

$ 9,338

Interest cost

232

256

2,605

Expected return on plan assets

(285)

(262)

(2,668)

Amortization of transition amount

124

124

1,263

Prior service cost

297

619

6,303

60

(8)

(86)

¥ 1,275

¥ 1,646

$16,755

Amortization of unrecognized actuarial differences
Net

Assumptions used in calculation of the above information were as follows:

32

2008

2009

Discount rate

1.8–2.0%

1.8–2.0%

Expected rate of return on plan assets

2.0–3.0%

2.0–3.0%

Method of attributing the projected benefits to
periods of service

Straight-line basis

Straight-line basis

Prior service cost

All expensed in current year

All expensed in current year

Amortization of transition amount

15 years

15 years

Amortization of unrecognized actuarial differences

Over 5 to 8 years subsequent
to the fiscal year of occurrence

Over 5 to 8 years subsequent
to the fiscal year of occurrence
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INCOME TAXES

The Company and its consolidated domestic subsidiaries are subject to a corporate tax of 30%, an inhabitant tax of approximately 6%
and a deductible enterprise tax of approximately 8%, which in the aggregate resulted in a statutory income tax rate of approximately
40.7% for the years ended March 31, 2008 and 2009.

The significant components of deferred tax assets and liabilities at March 31, 2008 and 2009 were as follows:
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

Millions of yen

2008

2009

2009

¥ 9,018

¥ 3,884

$ 39,536

36,757

64,854

660,225

271

448

4,562

2,104

1,937

19,723

108

300

3,055

Deferred tax assets:
Impairment loss on fixed assets
Loss carryforwards
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Inventory devaluation
Unrealized losses on subsidiaries
Other

3,628

3,160

32,166

Gross deferred tax assets

51,886

74,583

759,267

Less: Valuation allowance

(46,275)

(71,618)

(729,083)

5,611

2,965

30,184

Total deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liabilities:
Unrealized gains on other securities

147

62

636

Other

593

704

7,166

740

766

7,802

¥ 4,872

¥ 2,199

$ 22,382

Gross deferred tax liabilities
Net deferred tax assets

The valuation allowance relates to deferred tax assets of the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries with temporary differences
and operating loss carryforwards for tax purposes that are not expected to be realized.
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Company and its consolidated subsidiaries are contingently liable for guarantees at March 31, 2008 and 2009 as follows:
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

Millions of yen

Long guarantee to customers
Total

14

2008

2009

2009

¥43,368

¥70,587

$718,587

¥43,368

¥70,587

$718,587

PREFERRED STOCK

The Company issued several types of preferred stocks under the debt equity swap with banks and some other financial institutions
as follows:
Number of shares outstanding
(thousands)

Balance sheet amount
(millions of yen)

Issuance

Number of shares issued
(thousands)

2008

2009

2008

2009

Class 1

September 2002

10,000

10,000

10,000

¥ 4,000

¥ 4,000

Class 2

September 2002

15,000

15,000

11,250

6,000

4,500

Class 4

September 2002

25,000

25,000

18,750

10,000

7,500

Class 7

March 2009

25,000

—

25,000

—

10,000

Class 8

March 2009

23,598

—

23,598

—

9,439

98,598

50,000

88,598

¥20,000

¥35,439

TOTAL

Preferred stocks have a conversion feature at the holder’s option, which becomes effective after a certain predetermined period
(2–7 years) after issuance. The initial conversion price is determined either as average market price of the Company’s common stock
at issuance (Class 2, Class 4 Class 7, and Class 8), or as the average market price of the Company’s common stock when the conversion feature becomes effective (Class 1). The preferred stocks are convertible to common stocks for 18–20 years, and conversion prices
are reset annually if certain conditions are met. Preferred stocks outstanding at the end of the conversion period are mandatorily converted to common stocks at a predetermined conversion rate.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

Segment information of the Company and its subsidiaries classified by business segment for the years ended March 31, 2008 and 2009
is as follows:
Millions of yen
Eliminations
or Corporate
Assets/Expenses

Real Estate
Sales

Real Estate
Management

Real Estate
Brokerage

Contract
Work

Other

Total

¥ 312,037

¥ 29,984

¥ 9,081

¥ 31,164

¥ 11,836

¥ 394,102

For the year ended March 31, 2008

Consolidated
Total

Net Sales
(1) Sales to outside customers
(2) Inter-segment sales/transfers
Total net sales
Operating Expenses
Operating income (loss)
Assets

34

¥

—

¥ 394,102

—

125

103

3,658

719

4,605

(4,605)

—

¥ 312,037

¥ 30,109

¥ 9,184

¥ 34,822

¥ 12,555

¥ 398,707

¥ (4,605)

¥ 394,102

¥ 284,173

¥ 27,576

¥ 9,327

¥ 32,807

¥ 10,807

¥ 364,690

¥ (1,706)

¥ 362,984

¥

27,864

¥ 2,533

¥ (143)

¥ 2,015

¥ 1,748

¥

34,017

¥ (2,899)

¥

31,118

¥ 418,372

¥ 16,369

¥ 5,932

¥ 11,692

¥ 13,779

¥ 466,144

¥ (1,410)

¥ 464,734

Depreciation

226

246

75

18

50

615

—

615

Capital Expenditures

213

109

217

6

59

604

—

604
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Millions of yen

For the year ended March 31, 2009

Eliminations
or Corporate
Assets/Expenses

Real Estate
Sales

Real Estate
Management

Real Estate
Brokerage

Contract
Work

Other

Total

¥ 267,846

¥ 31,762

¥ 8,420

¥ 32,947

¥ 10,650

¥ 351,624

—

183

86

2,198

557

3,024

Consolidated
Total

Net Sales
(1) Sales to outside customers
(2) Inter-segment sales/transfers
Total net sales
Operating Expenses
Operating income (loss)

¥

—

¥ 351,624

(3,024)

—

¥ 267,846

¥ 31,945

¥ 8,506

¥ 35,145

¥ 11,207

¥ 354,648

¥ (3,024)

¥ 351,624

¥ 318,282

¥ 28,358

¥ 8,635

¥ 32,386

¥ 9,022

¥ 396,683

¥

¥ 395,700

(983)

¥ (50,436)

¥ 3,587

¥ (129)

¥ 2,759

¥ 2,184

¥ (42,035)

¥ (2,040)

¥ (44,076)

¥ 315,328

¥ 24,687

¥ 5,016

¥ 11,685

¥ 11,224

¥ 367,940

¥

(419)

¥ 367,522

Depreciation

237

192

68

24

62

583

—

583

Capital Expenditures

277

87

31

73

98

566

—

566

Assets

Thousands of U.S dollars

For the year ended March 31, 2009

Eliminations
or Corporate
Assets/Expenses

Real Estate
Sales

Real Estate
Management

Real Estate
Brokerage

Contract
Work

Other

Total

Consolidated
Total

$2,726,719

$323,344

$85,715

$335,402

$108,417

$3,579,597

—

1,858

877

22,377

5,669

30,781

(30,781)

—

$2,726,719

$325,202

$86,593

$357,778

$114,086

$3,610,378

$(30,781)

$3,579,597

$3,240,169

$288,687

$87,909

$329,691

$ 91,850

$4,038,306

$(10,010)

$4,028,296

$ (513,450)

$ 36,515

$ (1,316)

$ 28,087

$ 22,236

$ (427,927)

$(20,772)

$ (448,699)
$3,741,439

Net Sales
(1) Sales to outside customers
(2) Inter-segment sales/transfers
Total net sales
Operating Expenses
Operating income (loss)
Assets

$

—

$3,579,597

$3,210,102

$251,322

$51,066

$118,953

$114,261

$3,745,702

$ (4,264)

Depreciation

2,417

1,958

691

242

629

5,938

—

5,938

Capital Expenditures

2,815

889

316

746

1,000

5,766

—

5,766

Segment

Main business

Real Estate Sales

Allotment sales of condominiums, housing land, etc.

Real Estate Management

Management of condominiums, office buildings, etc.

Real Estate Brokerage

Real estate brokerage

Contract Work

Contracts for condominium equipment work, etc.

Other

Rental and rental management of condominiums, office buildings, etc.; condominium tenant support and others.
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RELATED PARTY INFORMATION

Related-party transactions for the year ended March 31, 2008 were as follows:
No material related party transactions to be disclosed.

Related-party transactions for the year ended March 31, 2009 were as follows:
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(1) PARENT COMPANY AND PRINCIPAL SHAREHOLDERS

Type
Name of the related party
Address
Capital or Investment
Type of business
Equity ownership percentage
Relation
Nature of transaction
Transaction amount
Account
Balance at year-end

Other related company
Orix Corporation
Minato-ku,Tokyo
¥102,216 million
Corporate financial service
(Owned) Direct 40.9%
Additional post held by the directors
Acquisition of treasury stock
¥10,430 million
—
—

Type
Name of the related party
Address
Capital or Investment
Type of business
Equity ownership percentage
Relation
Nature of transaction
Transaction amount
Account
Balance at year-end

Other related company
Orix Corporation
Minato-ku,Tokyo
¥102,216 million
Corporate financial service
(Owned) Direct 40.9%
Additional post held by the directors
Share exchange
¥9,439 million
—
—

Other related company
Orix Corporation
Minato-ku,Tokyo
¥102,216 million
Corporate financial service
(Owned) Direct 40.9%
Additional post held by the directors
Allocation of new shares to third party
¥10,000 million
—
—

(2) SISTER COMPANIES, ETC.

Type
Name of the related party
Address
Capital or Investment
Type of business
Equity ownership percentage
Relation
Nature of transaction
Transaction amount
Account
Balance at year-end

17

Other affiliated company
ORIX Real Estate Corporation
Minato-ku,Tokyo
¥200 million
Real estate sales
None
Joint owner of real estate sales business
Sale of property and equipment
¥6,795 million (profit: ¥1,120 million)
—
—

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

REDUCTION OF ADDITIONAL PAID-IN CAPITAL

At a Board of Directors’ meeting held on May 14, 2009, the Company made a resolution regarding the reduction of additional-paid in
capital. Accordingly, the amount of additional paid-in capital was reduced on May 31, 2009.
(1) Objective of Additional Paid-in Capital Reduction
Additional paid-in capital was reduced to cover the deficit in retained earnings brought forward caused by financial results losses
generated in the fiscal year ended March 31, 2009.
(2) Manner of Additional Paid-in Capital Reduction
The Company reduced additional paid-in capital pursuant to Article 448 (1) of the Japanese Corporate Law and transferred the same
amount to other capital surplus. Following the increase in other capital surplus, the Company decreased it to cover the deficit in
retained earnings brought forward.
(3) Amount of Additional Paid-in Capital Reduction
As of March 31, 2009, the Company held ¥38,849,695,000 in additional paid-in capital, of which ¥14,495,330,385 was reduced.
(4) Effective Date of Additional Paid-in Capital Reduction
May 31, 2009
36
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the Board of Directors of Daikyo Incorporated:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Daikyo Incorporated and consolidated subsidiaries as of March 31,
2009 and 2008, and the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in net assets and cash flows for the years then ended expressed in Japanese yen. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our
responsibility is to independently express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in Japan. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
Daikyo Incorporated and subsidiaries as of March 31, 2009 and 2008, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the
years then ended, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in Japan.

Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 17 “SUBSEQUENT EVENTS” to the consolidated financial statements. Daikyo
Incorporated reduced the additional paid-in capital.

The U.S. dollar amounts in the accompanying consolidated financial statements with respect to the year ended March 31, 2009 are
presented solely for convenience. Our audit also included the translation of yen amounts into U.S. dollar amounts and, in our opinion,
such translation has been made on the basis described in Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

Tokyo, Japan
June 24, 2009
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CORPORATE DATA
(As of March 31, 2009)

CORPORATE NAME:

DAIKYO INCORPORATED

HEAD OFFICE:

Sendagaya No. 21 Daikyo Building, 24-13, Sendagaya 4-chome, Shibuya-ku, Tokyo 151-8506, Japan
Phone: +81-3-3475-1111

DATE ESTABLISHED:

December 11, 1964

BRANCH OFFICES:
HOKKAIDO BRANCH OFFICE

Sapporo North Plaza Building, 2-2, Kitaichijo-nishi 4-chome, Chuo-ku, Sapporo City, Hokkaido 060-0001, Japan
Phone: +81-11-221-2322

TOHOKU BRANCH OFFICE

Sendai Kowa Building, 4-1, Ichibancho 2-chome, Aoba-ku, Sendai City, Miyagi 980-0811, Japan
Phone: +81-22-262-2171

NAGOYA BRANCH OFFICE

Daikyo Hisaya Building, 19-12, Marunouchi 3-chome, Naka-ku, Nagoya City, Aichi 460-0002, Japan
Phone: +81-52-972-6111

OSAKA BRANCH OFFICE

Shin Fujita Building, 4-27, Dojima 2-chome, Kita-ku, Osaka City, Osaka 530-0003, Japan
Phone: +81-6-6453-2335

HIROSHIMA BRANCH OFFICE

Meiji Yasuda Life Insurance Hiroshima Noboricho Building, 13-11, Noboricho, Naka-ku, Hiroshima City,
Hiroshima 730-0016, Japan
Phone: +81-82-211-0121

KYUSHU BRANCH OFFICE

Taihaku Center Building 19-24, Hakataekimae 2-chome, Hakata-ku, Fukuoka City, Fukuoka 812-0011, Japan
Phone: +81-92-481-8866

OKINAWA BRANCH OFFICE

Okinawa No. 27 Daikyo Building, 8-1, Kumoji, Naha City, Okinawa 900-0015, Japan
Phone: +81-98-866-7100

MAJOR C O N S O L I D A T E D S U B S I D I A R I E S :
(As of March 31, 2009)
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JAPAN

LOCATION

CAPITAL STOCK
(Millions of yen)

MAIN BUSINESS

DAIKYO ASTAGE INCORPORATED

Tokyo

¥1,237

Real estate management; contract work

DAIKYO REALDO INCORPORATED

Tokyo

¥1,413

Real estate brokerage; real estate sales

DAIKYO LIFE INCORPORATED

Tokyo

¥20

Real estate management

DAIKYO L–DESIGN INCORPORATED

Tokyo

¥200

Contract work

ASSET WAVE CORPORATION, INC.

Tokyo

¥30

Real estate sales; real estate brokerage

FUSO ENGINEERING INCORPORATED

Tokyo

¥20

Contract work

ORIX FACILITIES CORPORATION

Kyoto

¥857

Real estate management; Contract work

OVERSEAS

LOCATION

CAPITAL STOCK
(Millions of new Taiwan dollar)

MAIN BUSINESS

TAIWAN DAIKYO INCORPORATED

Taipei, Taiwan

NT$50

Real estate sales
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INVESTOR INFORMATION
(As of March 31, 2009)

TOTAL NUMBER OF SHARES ISSUED:

Common stock

345,387,738

Preferred stock

88,598,144

NUMBER OF SHAREHOLDERS:

27,294

STOCK EXCHANGE LISTING:

Tokyo Stock Exchange: First Section (code: 8840)

TRANSFER AGENT OF COMMON STOCK:

Mitsubishi UFJ Trust and Banking Corporation

MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS(COMMON STOCK):

NAME

ORIX Corporation

Number of shares (1,000 shares)

Percentage of voting rights (%)

139,097

40.93%

Japan Trustee Services Bank, Ltd. (Trust Account 4G)

9,103

2.68

Aioi Insurance Co., Ltd

6,967

2.05

Daikyo Business Partners Shareholding Association

4,613

1.36

Daikyo Group Employee Shareholding Association

4,482

1.32

Japan Trustee Services Bank, Ltd. (Trust Account 4)

3,995

1.18

JFE KOKEN Corporation

3,617

1.06

Mitsubishi UFJ Trust and Banking Corporation

3,599

1.06

BBH Boston Custodian for GMO International Small Companies Fund

2,536

0.75

BBH GMO International Core Equity Fund

2,516

0.74

*The Company holds 3,336 thousand shares of treasury stock, that are excluded from the major shareholdings listed above.

DISTRIBUTION OF SHARES BY TYPE OF SHAREHOLDER(COMMON STOCK):

Japanese financial
institutions

9.0%

Japanese securities
companies

2.2%

Other Japanese corporations

44.7%

Foreign institutions and
individuals

5.2%

Japanese individuals and
others

38.9%
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